FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/25/2019 2:29 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97889-1 Court of Appeals No.: 78726-8-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PORT OF ANACORTES, a Washington municipal corporation, Respondent,

v.

FRONTIER INDUSTRIES, INC., a Washington corporation; EINO "Mike" JOHNSON and LORIE A. JOHNSON, a married couple; and ITOCHU INTERNATIONAL INC., a foreign corporation, Petitioners.

#### JOINT PETITION FOR REVIEW

\_\_\_\_\_

Loren R. Dunn, WSBA No. 17135 Erika H. Spanton, WSBA No. 46992 600 University Street, Suite 1601 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 315-4800

#### I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONERS

Frontier Industries, Inc., Eino Johnson, Lorie A. Johnson, and ITOCHU International, Inc. (collectively "Petitioners") ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision identified in Part II.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the interlocutory decision issued by the Court of Appeals for Division 1 in the case of *Port of Anacortes v*.

Frontier Industries, et al. ("Decision"). A copy of the Decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-12. The Court of Appeals denied Petitioners' motion for reconsideration on October 24, 2019. A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at pages A-13 through A-14.

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Wood debris is not a "hazardous substance" under Washington's Model Toxics Control Act ("MTCA") as a matter of law.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Port of Anacortes owns Pier 2 and the adjacent "Log Pocket," an inlet constructed between Pier 2 and an earthen protrusion along the Guemes Channel, in Anacortes, Washington. CP 165, 178. The Port of Anacortes designed, used, and promoted Pier 2 and the adjacent

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 1 DAVIS LAW OFFICE, PLLC 7191 Wagner Way, Suite 202 Gig Harbor, WA 98335 (253) 858-9423

Log Pocket for the handling, rafting, transfer, and transshipment of untreated logs for 50 years. CP 102.

During a portion of this time, the Port of Anacortes hired numerous businesses and individuals, including Petitioner Frontier Industries, Inc., to handle logs on the Port of Anacortes' behalf on the upland portion of the Pier 2 facility. The Port of Anacortes also hired numerous parties to arrange for and participate in the transportation and shipping of raw, untreated logs out of and around Pier 2. Petitioner ITOCHU International, Inc. is one among many parties who shipped logs from Pier 2. CP 102. The Port of Anacortes' use of its facility for log handling for 50 years resulted in the deposit of wood debris in the sediments of the Log Pocket. CP 4.

The Port of Anacortes filed suit against Petitioners under MTCA.

CP 1-10. The Port of Anacortes alleges that Petitioners are liable as

"former operators" under MTCA for (1) the release of wood debris itself
and (2) the release of "other hazardous substances," including metals,

PAHs, phenols, dioxins, and furans alleged to be present at the Log

Pocket. CP 4, 6.

MTCA's former owner and operator liability standard follows:

"[a]ny person who owned or operated the facility at the time of disposal or

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 2 DAVIS LAW OFFICE, PLLC 7191 Wagner Way, Suite 202 Gig Harbor, WA 98335 (253) 858-9423

release of the hazardous substances" is jointly, severally, and strictly liable to the State of Washington for all costs of remediating the contaminated site. RCW 70.105D.040(1)(b).

The Port of Anacortes' complaint did not include any of the more than 20 other entities that assisted the Port of Anacortes with its log hauling operations or shipped logs using Pier 2.

Petitioners filed a Joint Motion for Summary Judgment in Skagit County Superior Court raising two distinct questions:

**Issue 1.** Whether Respondent's MTCA claims based on the release of wood debris itself should be dismissed because wood debris is not a hazardous substance under MTCA as a matter of law.

**Issue 2.** Whether Respondent's claims based on the release of "other hazardous substances" (such as metals, PAHs, phenols, dioxins, and furans alleged to be present at the Log Pocket) should be dismissed for lack of evidence.

The Superior Court denied summary judgment on both issues on June 25, 2018, but later certified the issue of whether wood debris is a hazardous substance under MTCA as a matter of law for discretionary review by the Court of Appeals pursuant to Wash. R. App. P. 2.3(b)(4). The Court of Appeals granted review of that sole issue of whether wood debris is a hazardous substance under MTCA as a matter of law. Notation Ruling of Commissioner Mary Neel Granting Review, 78726-8-I at 4

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 3

DAVIS LAW OFFICE, PLLC 7191 Wagner Way, Suite 202 Gig Harbor, WA 98335 (253) 858-9423

(2018) ("the certified issue, whether wood debris is a hazardous substance under the MTCA, is a question of law.").

Petitioners *did not* appeal the Superior Court's denial of Issue 2.

Whether petitioners are liable for designated hazardous substances such as metals, PAHs, phenols, dioxins, and furans alleged to be present at the Log Pocket remains before the Superior Court.

Both Petitioners and Respondents briefed the Court of Appeals on the single issue certified for discretionary review: whether wood debris is a hazardous substance under MTCA as a matter of law. The Washington Department of Ecology ("Ecology") submitted an amicus brief on March 28, 2019, to which Petitioners responded.

On August 19, 2019, the Court of Appeals reached a holding on the certified question that dictated reversal of the Superior Court's decision on the certified question. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Superior Court's denial of summary judgment on grounds well beyond the question certified for appeal. The Court of Appeals then denied Petitioners' joint motion for reconsideration on October 24, 2019.

Petitioners now file a timely petition asking this Court to review the Court of Appeals' August 19, 2019 interlocutory decision. RAP 13.5; *see In re Fero*, 190 Wn.2d 1, 11-13 (2018)

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 4

DAVIS LAW OFFICE, PLLC 7191 Wagner Way, Suite 202 Gig Harbor, WA 98335 (253) 858-9423

# V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court of Appeals Decided More than the Issue on Interlocutory Review.

Discretionary review of an interlocutory decision of the Court of Appeals may be accepted by the Supreme Court when:

The Court of Appeals has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings, or so far sanctioned such a departure by a trial court or administrative agency, as to call for the exercise of revisory jurisdiction by the Supreme Court.

Wash. R. App. P. 2.3(3). Here, the Court of Appeals did precisely that. Petitioners respectfully request that the Supreme Court grant review.

In its Decision, the Court of Appeals agreed with Petitioners and Ecology that wood debris is not a hazardous substance under MTCA: "Ecology . . . essentially conced[ed] that wood debris itself does not fit into the definitions of a hazardous substance in [MTCA]. *We agree*." A-10 (emphasis added). Having resolved the only issue on appeal, the Court of Appeals should have stopped its analysis there, reversed the portion of the Superior Court's summary judgment ruling addressing this particular issue (and only this issue), and remanded the case for further proceedings.

Instead, the Court of Appeals erroneously went beyond the scope of the appeal and its role as appellate court. While recognizing that wood debris is not a hazardous substance, the Court stated that "wood debris

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 5

DAVIS LAW OFFICE, PLLC 7191 Wagner Way, Suite 202 Gig Harbor, WA 98335 (253) 858-9423

decomposing in the marine environment releases designated hazardous substances under MTCA." A-10. Because such release might have "occurred during the defendants' tenure as operators of the facility," the Court concluded that Petitioners were potentially liable as former operators under RCW 70.105D.040(1)(b), and on this basis affirmed the decision of the Superior Court. A-1, A-10 – A-11. Applying a summary judgment standard, the Court of Appeals made these assumptions in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. In reaching these issues at all, however, the Court moved past the certified question and erroneously made a series of factual assumptions that can only be properly addressed on remand, *after* a proper appellate decision on the certified issue.

By resting its decision on an issue not raised on appeal or adequately briefed by the parties, the Court of Appeals departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings, which calls for the exercise of the Supreme Court's revisory jurisdiction. The Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure provide that "the appellate court will decide a case *only* on the basis of issues set forth by the parties in their briefs," with one narrow exception: "If the appellate court concludes that an issue which is not set forth in the briefs should be considered to properly decide a case, the court may notify the parties and give them an opportunity to

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 6

DAVIS LAW OFFICE, PLLC 7191 Wagner Way, Suite 202 Gig Harbor, WA 98335 (253) 858-9423

present written argument on the issue raised by the court." RAP 12.1 (emphasis added). Here, the Court of Appeals did not notify the parties it concluded an issue not set forth in the briefs should be considered, nor did it give the parties on opportunity to present written argument on the same. Pursuant to RAP 12.1, the Court of Appeals' review was procedurally limited to deciding the case on the basis of the sole issue raised by the parties.

The sole certified issue for review to the Court of Appeals was whether wood debris itself is a hazardous substance under MTCA as a matter of law. Notation Ruling of Commissioner Mary Neel Granting Review, 78726-8-I at 4 (2018). Importantly, Petitioners are not appealing the issue of their liability for the release of clearly designated hazardous substances present at the Log Pocket. That issue remains before the Superior Court. Rather, Petitioners are seeking reversal of the decision of the Superior Court denying summary judgment on the purely legal question of whether wood debris is a "hazardous substance" under MTCA. The Court of Appeals correctly answered this single certified question, concluding that wood debris is not a "hazardous substance"

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals agreed that this is a question of law. Notation Ruling of Commissioner Mary Neel Granting Review, 78726-8-I at 4 (2018).

under MTCA. Rather than reversing the decision of the Superior Court on this issue, as this conclusion dictates, the Court of Appeals went on to grossly depart from the certified question and proper appellate procedure by leaping to the question of how this legal conclusion might be applied in this case. The Court compounded this error by advancing a narrow speculative theory of liability that *might* apply if wood, although nonhazardous, leads to release of an actual hazardous substance, and the Petitioners otherwise qualify as "operators" after the hazardous substance is released. Based upon this sequence of speculation, the Court of Appeals ruled that "issues of fact exist" with respect to whether designated hazardous substances were released at the Log Pocket while Petitioners were allegedly "operators." A-10 – A-11. Yet this ruling is entirely immaterial to the certified question. The Court of Appeals should have limited its decision to its conclusion that wood debris is not a hazardous substance under MTCA, rather than affirming a decision of the Superior Court that the Court of Appeals found to be incorrect earlier in its decision.

Petitioners sought, and the Superior Court certified, interlocutory review of the narrow but critical question of whether wood debris itself qualifies as a hazardous substance under MTCA because the question

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 8 DAVIS LAW OFFICE, PLLC 7191 Wagner Way, Suite 202 Gig Harbor, WA 98335 (253) 858-9423

relates to a host of issues other than Petitioners' liability, including the potential liability of third parties and the "equitable factors" used in allocating costs under MTCA. A clear decision limited to this precise certified issue, and only this precise certified issue, is necessary for an efficient and fair resolution of the claims before the Superior Court.

# B. A Clear Ruling Limited to the Certified Question is Necessary for Resolving the Issue of Third Party Joinder and Preventing Unjust Attorney Fee Exposure

The commissioner stated in her ruling granting review by the Court of Appeals that:

Although there were many businesses and individuals who potentially could be liable for depositing wood debris, at oral argument the Port made it clear that it does not intend to add any other defendants to the lawsuit. If the litigation were to go forward without first determining whether wood debris is a hazardous substance under the MTCA, Frontier would be placed in the position of bringing cross claims against 20 or more other defendants/potential contributors, putting it in a legally precarious position given the attorney fee provision in the MTCA, and more importantly, greatly complicating the litigation.

Notation Ruling of Commissioner Mary Neel Granting Review, 78726-8-I at 4 (2018).

The liability of other parties not yet joined in this litigation is of special importance for interlocutory review because losing parties in MTCA contribution actions must pay the opposing parties' attorney fees.

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 9

DAVIS LAW OFFICE, PLLC 7191 Wagner Way, Suite 202 Gig Harbor, WA 98335 (253) 858-9423

RCW 70.105D.080 ("The prevailing party in such an action shall recover its reasonable attorneys' fees and costs."). Respondent made clear it has no intention of joining any additional potentially responsible parties.

Notation Ruling of Commissioner Mary Neel Granting Review, 78726-8-I at 4 (2018). If the question of whether wood debris qualifies as a hazardous substance under MTCA is not clearly resolved on interlocutory review, Petitioners will be placed in the precarious position of needing to join third parties based on a legal theory that Petitioners themselves oppose (that wood debris is a hazardous substance under MTCA) while simultaneously being hypothetically required to pay the new parties' attorney fees if Petitioners win their own argument that wood debris is not a hazardous substance under MTCA. The issue arises from the fact that, unlike Petitioners, these third parties' liability, if any, would be fully contingent upon whether or not wood debris is a hazardous substance.<sup>2</sup>

By way of example, parties who are liable under RCW 70.105D.040(1)(c) or (1)(d), commonly known as arrangers and

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> MTCA establishes five categories of liable parties in RCW 70.105D.040(1)(a)-(e). RCW 70.105D.040(1)(a) refers to the current owner, in this case the Port. RCW 70.105D.040(1)(c)-(e) impose liability on parties based on some direct interaction with a hazardous substance (arranging for disposal, transporting or selling). Only one category of liability, former owner and operator liability set forth at RCW 70.105D.040(1)(b), is based on the timing of the "release of the hazardous substances" without regard to whether the liable party actually handled the substance.

transporters, are respectively liable only if they arranged for the transport of hazardous substances or transported hazardous substances. RCW 70.105D.040(1)(c)-(d). Whether hazardous substances were later released at the site is immaterial to their liability. Without a clear ruling limited to the wood debris issue, Petitioners will need join wood debris arrangers and transporters in this lawsuit since they might share liability for the remediation costs at the Log Pocket. Yet if Petitioners do this, these arrangers and transporters would likely assert as a full legal defense to their liability that wood debris is not a hazardous substances. Given the ambiguity of the Court of Appeals' decision, Petitioners risk paying the attorney fees of arrangers they have joined (as well as their own fees) if this argument ultimately proves successful.

By failing to conclusively address the certified question and instead basing its decision instead on the narrow, unasked question of whether liability under RCW 70.105D.040(1)(b) applies, the Court of Appeals' decision forces Petitioners into a Hobson's choice. Petitioners are forced to decide whether to join other parties and take the risk of paying their attorneys' fees if Petitioners' own argument on wood debris is successful or choose to not join other parties and thus forego the opportunity to offset remedial costs.

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 11 DAVIS LAW OFFICE, PLLC 7191 Wagner Way, Suite 202 Gig Harbor, WA 98335 (253) 858-9423

# C. A Clear Ruling Limited to the Certified Question is Necessary for Resolving the Issue of Equitable Factors under MTCA at Trial.

This case is an action for contribution under RCW 70.105D.080. Contribution requires a court to determine the amount recoverable in an action based on "equitable factors." RCW 70.105D.080 ("Recovery shall be based on such equitable factors as the court determines are appropriate."); see also Dash Point Vill. Assocs. v. Exxon Corp., 86 Wn. App. 596, 607, 937 P.2d 1148, 1155 (1997) ("In deciding the allocation issue under the MTCA, the trial court applies 'equitable factors it deem[s] appropriate' to calculate the award by taking into account the cause of the contamination, the defendant's relationship to the contamination, as well as other pertinent discretionary factors.").

What qualifies as an "equitable factor" is not defined by statute and is often a key question before the trial court. Washington recognizes that many factors may potentially be equitable factors for consideration in the discretion of the trial court. *Dash Point*, 86 Wn. App. at 607, 937 P.2d at 1155 (1997). Washington has recognized that the similar federal statute known as the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act ("CERCLA") provides persuasive authority when interpreting MTCA and has specifically referred to it as a source for

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 12 DAVIS LAW OFFICE, PLLC 7191 Wagner Way, Suite 202 Gig Harbor, WA 98335 (253) 858-9423

equitable factors. *See Dash Point*, 86 Wn. App. at 608 n. 24 (discussing CERCLA cases including discussion of the "Gore Factors"). Among the most common factors considered by courts in CERCLA actions are the so-called "Gore Factors," which include such considerations as "the degree of involvement by the parties in the generation, transportation, treatment, storage, or disposal of the hazardous waste." *Colorado v. Asarco, Inc.*, 608 F. Supp. 1484, 1487-88 (D. Colo. 1985) (discussing Gore Factors and legislative history); *see also United States v. Davis*, 31 F. Supp. 2d 45, 63 (D.R.I. 1998) (creating what have come to be known as the Torres Factors).

While equitable factors may vary from case to case, it is clear that one factor that is regularly considered is the source of a party's liability. Here, there is likely to be a difference between a party who knowingly transports hazardous substances to a site and a party that arranges to have non-hazardous substances such as wood debris brought to a site even if those substances lead to the presence of hazardous substances through some other (possibly natural) means.

The issue of whether wood debris is a hazardous substances under MTCA as a matter of law has serious, clear consequences for how liability will be apportioned among the litigants at trial. Yet by affirming the

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 13 DAVIS LAW OFFICE, PLLC 7191 Wagner Way, Suite 202 Gig Harbor, WA 98335 (253) 858-9423

Superior Court's ruling on the *unappealled* question of liability under RCW 70.105D.040(1)(b) for designated hazardous substances such phenols alleged to be present at the site, the Court of Appeals left its holding on this critical legal issue in a place of limbo.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

Petitioners respectfully request that this Court reverse the Court of Appeals' August 19, 2019 Decision affirming the Superior Court's denial of summary judgment. The Court of Appeals' legal and factual conclusions were beyond the scope of the appeal and addressed factual issues that should have been addressed on remand. A decision limited to the certified question will not relieve Petitioners of potential liability, but it will significantly clarify the basis under which their liability can be asserted, as well as the potential liability of countless Washington companies and individuals that might be liable under MTCA for deposition of untreated, raw wood debris. Pursuant to RAP 13.5, the Petitioners respectfully request that this Court grant review.

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 14 DAVIS LAW OFFICE, PLLC 7191 Wagner Way, Suite 202 Gig Harbor, WA 98335 (253) 858-9423