FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/21/2020 10:01 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97889-1

SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PORT OF ANACORTES, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent,

v.

FRONTIER INDUSTRIES, INC., a Washington corporation; EINO "MIKE" JOHNSON and LORIE A. JOHNSON, a married couple; and ITOCHU INTERNATIONAL, INC., a foreign corporation,

Petitioners.

PLAINTIFF'S AMENDED ANSWER TO DEFENDANTS' JOINT PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

IV. ARGUMENT

THE COURT SHOULD DENY A DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW WHEN THE PETITION FAILS TO DISCUSS OR ARGUE ANY OF THE PROPER CRITERIA FOR REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(B) AND FAILS TO PROVIDE ARGUMENT SUPPORTING THEIR INCORRECTLY BRIEFED STANDARD.

Defendants' Petition must meet one of four requirements to obtain Supreme Court review of a decision terminating review. *See* RAP 13.4(b). The Petition fails to address <u>any</u> of these criteria; instead it erroneously cites to RAP 13.5(b)(3) as the vehicle by which this Court should grant review.

These failures irreparably conflict with Defendants' obligations under both RAP 13.4(b) and RAP 13.4(c)(7) to: (1) articulate the reasons for review; and (2) provide "[a] direct and concise statement of the reason why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in [that section], with argument." *See* RAP 13.4(b) and RAP 13.4(c)(7).

The Opinion does not merit review by the Court at this time for three reasons. First, the Petition fails to cite or discuss the relevant standards. Second, the Opinion does not satisfy the correct standards. Third, Defendants will have the ability to appeal the trial court's final decision after the relevant factual record is developed at trial. As such, the best course of action is to let the record continue to fully develop in the trial

court. After trial, Defendants may avail themselves of appellate review if they feel it is warranted at that time.

- A. This Court should not grant a petition for review where Defendants fail to satisfy or provide briefing on any one of the four requirements for review under RAP 13.4(b).
 - 1. RAP 13.4(b), rather than the RAP 13.5(b), lays out the correct requirements for review by this Court.

Defendants erroneously cite to and discuss RAP 13.5(b) as the applicable standard for review of the Court of Appeals' Opinion. However, it is clear that Defendants must meet one of the four requirements under RAP 13.4(b) to obtain review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b). See Clerk's Letter Sent by E-Mail Only to All Parties (Nov. 27, 2019).

2. Defendants neither brief nor satisfy any of the requirements for review under RAP 13.4(b).

Not only does the Petition fail to discuss the applicable RAP 13.4(b), but Defendants cannot satisfy any of the requirements set out by RAP 13.4(b) in order to warrant review.

This Court accepts petitions for review under RAP 13.4(b) only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Put simply, petitioners like Defendants here "must demonstrate that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of this court or another Court of Appeals decision, or that [they are] raising a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest." *In re Matter of Dove*, 188 Wn. 2d 1008, 398 P.3d 1070 (2017). The Port addresses each of these criteria in turn despite Defendants' failure to discuss any of them.

First, the Opinion does not conflict with any decision by this Court or the appellate courts of this State, as MTCA liability relating to or arising out of industrial wood waste deposits in the marine environment is an issue of first impression in Washington. The mere fact that this is an issue of first impression is neither a basis for review provided in RAP 13.4 nor recognized by this Court. See In re Coats, 173 Wn. 2d 123, 132-33, 267 P.3d 324 (2011) (recognizing "petitioner must persuade us that either the decision below conflicts with a decision of this court or another division of the Court of Appeals; that it presents a significant question of constitutional interest; or that it presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this court.") (emphasis added); see also Matter of Dove, 188 Wn. 2d 1008, 398 1070 (2017) ("To obtain review in this court, Mr. Dove must demonstrate that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of this court or another Court of Appeals decision, or that he is raising a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public interest.") (emphasis added).

Accordingly, being an issue of first impression is not by itself a cognizable basis for review. This is particularly the case where, as here, the appeal is an interlocutory appeal of the trial court's denial of summary judgment. The effective result of this denial is that there will be a trial to establish all the relevant facts. Based on those narrow set of facts to be established, the trial court will then determine the extent of Defendants' liability under MTCA. There will be ample time for any aggrieved party to pursue additional appeals after a full trial.

Second, this matter strictly relates to liability under the statutorily created MTCA. More precisely, liability where the industrial wood waste Defendants deposited into the marine environment caused a release of hazardous substances. This does not raise any question of either federal or state constitutional law, let alone a "significant" question.

Finally, the lawsuit does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. See, e.g., State v. Watson, 155 Wn. 2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (finding a decision concerning validity of a sentencing memorandum of substantial public interest when it had the immediate potential to affect all sentencing hearings in Pierce County); see also In re Adoption of T.A.W., 184 Wn. 2d 1040, 387 P.3d 626 (2016) (finding an issue of substantial public importance in determining the scope of the ability to terminate parental rights pertaining to Native American tribes). This Court examined what does and does not quality as a substantial public interest in In re Flippo. In re Flippo, 185 Wn. 2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016). There, the Court found that the validity of imposing legal financial obligations more

than a year after judgments on personal restraint petitions were final was an issue of a substantial public interest because of its potential to broadly impact personal restraint petitions. *Id.* The Court recognized it was a commonly occurring issue and affected a number of existing proceedings in lower courts at the time. *Id.* Conversely, this Court found no substantial public interest in examining a claim of whether a party's guardian ad litem was able to adequately communicate during trial. *See In re Dependency of P.H.V.S.*, 184 Wn. 2d 1017, 389 P.3d 460 (2015).

Here, the Opinion applies MTCA in a straightforward manner to the narrow set of facts on the record. Defendants' Petition focuses on how the Opinion will impact them in the pending case (i.e. their alleged potential exposure to attorneys' fees, etc.) and do not discuss a broader public interest. As such, the Opinion is relevant to the particular dispute between the Port and Defendants, and not some greater substantial public interest. The Court should deny the Petition because it does not meet RAP 13.4(b)'s requirements for review.

Further, this Court should not permit Defendants to remedy their failure to discuss RAP 13.4(b) in a reply brief. The failure to raise and brief an issue in the opening Petition requires this Court to disregard any argument on reply. See RAP 13.4(c)(7) and RAP 13.7(b). Even if a party mentions an issue in their petition but still fails to address it as required by RAP 13.4(c)(7), the Court must disregard that issue. See State v. Korum, 157 Wn. 2d 614, 623-25, 141 P.3d 13 (2006) (declining to review argument on an issue raised in petitioner's argument section but not the concise

statement of issues, as required in the petition for review under RAP 13.4(c)(7)); see also In re Detention of A.S., 138 Wn. 2d 898, 922 n. 10, 982 P.2d 1156 (1999) (explaining that in the absence of argument on an issue in a petition of review, the Court will not consider the argument and waive it).

Strict enforcement of this rule is important to maintain fairness to a responding party, such as the Port. Allowing otherwise would give Defendants the opportunity to strategically withhold analysis of critical issues and then provide an unrebutted reply. The Court should not consider any argument by Defendants regarding the standards in RAP 13.4(b) on reply.

B. Defendants inappropriately rely on RAP 13.5(b)(3) and still fail to satisfy the exacting requirement of that rule for review by the Court.

Even if the Court were to consider review under the inapplicable standard in RAP 13.5(b)(3), the Petition fails to meet that standard for review. There is nothing to suggest that the Court of Appeals "has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings . . . as to call for the exercise of [this Court's] jurisdiction." RAP 13.5(b)(3).

The Court of Appeals correctly stated that it could "affirm [the] trial court's decision on a motion for summary judgment on any ground supported by the record." *Pac. Marine Ins. Co. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 181 Wn. App. 730, 737, 329 P.3d 101 (Div. 2 2014). The Court of Appeals was further correct in that it could affirm on those grounds "whether or not the argument was made below." *Bavand v. OneWest Bank*, 196 Wn. App. 813, 825, 385 P.3d 233 (Div. 1 2016). Moreover, to the extent the Court of

Appeals relied on Ecology's amicus briefing, it could freely do so. *See State v. Duncan*, 185 Wn. 2d 430, 440, 374 P.3d 83 (2016) (en banc) ("Appellate courts will not usually decide an issue raised only by amicus, but may choose to do so."). Simply put, no impropriety exists in the Court of Appeals' Opinion.

The Court of Appeals merely found reasonable grounds supporting the trial court's denial of a summary judgment motion and therefore remanded the case for a full and complete trial on the merits. Defendants will have the opportunity to present any and all relevant facts and arguments at trial. Defendants fail to show that a departure from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings occurred in any way. Review would be improper under this standard even if RAP 13.5(b)(3) applied (which it does not).

The standards of review themselves anticipate that discretionary review requires something more than simple disagreement. Here there is simply no reasoning that warrants review under the standards outlined by this Court. In that light the proper action is for the Court to deny review.

C. The issue presented by Defendants has no relevance to the Court of Appeals' Opinion, which did not rest its decision on that basis and did not need to address the Port's primary arguments.

Defendants' Petition asks this Court to review as its issue whether "Wood debris is not a 'hazardous substance' under Washington's Model Toxics Control Act ('MTCA') as a matter of law." Pet. at 1. But given the holding in the Opinion, a review of that issue does not mandate a different result even if this Court found in favor of Defendants. Again, this provides

another reason for the Court to deny review. More exactingly, the Opinion itself already found:

Here, defendants argue that wood debris does not fit within the established definitions for hazardous waste. Ecology, while not a party in this case, submitted an amicus brief essentially conceding that wood debris itself does not fit into the definitions of a hazardous substance in RCW 70.105D.020(13). We agree.

However, the evidence in the record demonstrates that wood debris results in a release of listed hazardous substances as it breaks down in the marine environment.

Op. at 10 (emphases added).

In short, the Court recognized that wood debris itself was not included in the definition of a hazardous substance in RCW 70.105D.020(13). But this was never the argument of the Port, who instead discussed the particular issue of industrial wood debris in the marine environment. Thus, the Port's briefing addressed the relationship between MTCA and the SMS. The Court's holding—affirming denial of summary judgment in light of Defendant's argument—means that the issue raised is unavailing. This is not a new issue in this matter and was briefed extensively in the lower courts. The only reason this issue was left undecided was because the Court of Appeals affirmed denial of summary judgment on other grounds.

Consequently, if the Court grants review it should be sure to reach all pertinent issues presented by both parties. The Court's Opinion is clear that in the marine environment, wood waste can release hazardous substances, thus establishing MTCA liability arising out of wood waste disposal in the marine environment. Review is not warranted in the first

place. But if the Court decides to grant review and take issue with the Opinion, it should also analyze the interplay between MTCA and the SMS as an independent ground upon which to deny Defendants' interlocutory appeal.⁷

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals' Opinion is well-informed and correct. Defendants' Petition fails to either address or satisfy the criteria for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). To the extent the Petition briefs RAP 13.5(b)(3) it likewise fails to satisfy that criteria for discretionary review. Since Defendants fail to satisfy any of the requirements for review, the Court should deny their Petition.

If, despite all of this, the Court grants Defendants' Petition, the Court should be sure to reach all of the relevant issues—particularly those raised by the Port—addressed in front of the Court of Appeals.